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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2}, (3) and {4) Michael Scverson asks
this Cowrt to accept review of the opinion of the Court of Appeals in State
v, Severson. 46359-8-11, dated March 29, 2016. The opinion became the
decision terminating review upon the entry of the June 17, 2016 order

denying a motion for reconsideration. (Appendix A and B.)

B. OPINION BELOW

The trial where Severson was convicted of four counts of child
molestation was riddled with errors. Defense counsel did not protect
Severson against multiple instances of prosecutorial misconduct and failed
to use the most basic of evidentiary norms as either shicld or sword.

The Court of Appeals found that the Pierce County Prosecutor’s
office made a plainly improper argument in explicitly asking the jury to
convict because witnesses had expressed their opinion that Severson was
guilty. However, employing a Balkanized approach to the prejudice
analysis, the Court of Appeals coneluded the errors below did not call for
reversal. either standing alone or n combination.

Severson contends the record shows his fundamental right to a fair
trial, the Fourteenth Amendment right to due process of law, and his Sixth

Amendment right to the eflective assistance of counsel were violated.



C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should review he granted to continn that blatant and repeated
use of opinion of guilt evidence, including a witness opinion that an

33

accused was “grooming” the alleged victims constitute flagrant and ill-
intentioned misconduct? Should review be granted to confirm that the
constitutional right to a fair trial bars the State from presenting witnesses’
opinions that an accused was “inappropriate,” “creepy,” and that the
complainants were abused?

2. Should review be granted to confirm that it is flagrant and 1ll-
intentioned misconduct for a prosecutor to argue the accused must be
ouilty because he committed more crimes than he had been charged with?

3. Should review be granted to confirm that the Sixth Aimendment
right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel? Does
a lawyer who waives viable challenges to witness competency and the
admissibility of child hearsay render deficient and prejudicial
performance? Does a lawyer who fails to exclude testimony that his client
caused a complainant physical harm different from the charged sexual
crimes render deticient and prejudieial performance? Does a lawyer who
allows the prosecution to intreduce for substantive purposes testimony that
should have been impeaching a complainant’s credibility render deficient

and prejudicial performance? Does a lawyer who allows witnesses to
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opine as to his client’s guilt render deficient and prejudicial performance?
Dues a lawyer who wins a pretrial motion in limine to keep the State from
putting on evidence that his client was allegedly “grooming™ the
complainant, but then fails to enforce that motion, render deficient and
prejudicial performance? Docs a lawyer who fails to impeach a critical
witness with ER 609 priors because he misunderstands the basic rule,
render deficient and prejudicial performance? Does a lawyer who fails to
object when, in closing argument, the prosecutor argues his client
committed uncharged crimes and is believed by others to be an
opportunistic predator, render deficient and prejudicial performance?
Should review be granted because these failures of defense counsel,
standing alone and in combination, show that Severson was deprived of
his Sixth Amendment right to eftfective assistance of counsel?

4. Should review be granted to confirm that a child witness who
simultaneously adheres to two mutually-exclusive “truths™ and shows an
inability to form and recall key memory 1s incompetent to testify? What
standard of review should apply where the appellate court has access to a
videotape of the child’s forensic interview, but trial counsel waived what
would have been a well-taken competency challenge?

5. Should review be granted to confirm that the Rvan factors

dictate the reliability and admuissibility of child hearsay? Where trial



counsel waived what would have been a well-taken child hearsay
challenge, should an appellate court still *rely on the fact-finder™ with
respect to any of the Rvan analysis?

6. Should review be granted because cumulative error and
fundamental fairness principles show that Severson was deprived of his
due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Michael Severson is a 59-year-old veteran of the United States
Army. RP 501. He was accused of sexually molesting two young sisters,
K.C.-J. and J.N.K.. while he was living with them and their mother, At
trial, Severson testified he was innocent, just as he had told the police. RP
541. 551. He respecttully asks that this Court review his opening bricf,
which contains a thorough recitation of the facts of the case. AOB at 12-
18." The recitation of facts in the attached Opinion suffers from a series of
critical omissions. These omissions relate to the prosecutorial misconduct
that occurred during the presentation of the State’s case and in closing
argument. These omissions also relate to the overall weaknesses of the

State’s evidence, especially as to the two counts relating to K.C.-J.

' Through counsel. Severson filed extensive appellate pleadings: an overlength
opening briet, a reply briet, and then a motion to supplement record and for
reconsideration. These documents are ciled herein as: AOB. ARB. and MTR.



The Opinion claims:

As discussed above. although we find some ot the prosecutor's
conduct troublesome, given the strength of the State's evidence and
the court's jury instructions, we conclude that the prosecutor's
limited instances of misconduct did not deny Severson his right to
a fair trial.

Op. at 8.

At the core of the Court of Appeals’ ruling is the notion the State’s
case had “strength,” but the record says otherwise. Op. at §; AOB at 38-
48: ARB at 5-13: MTR at 7, 12-17. In fact. in closing argument the
prosecutor conceded the State’s case was weak:

o “There’s no eyewitnesses, no medical evidence, no DNA.” RP697.
e “[T]here are inconsistencies. There’s [sic] no two ways about

that.” RP700.

o “[K.C.-J.} was inconsistent on whether or not in occurred in
[apartment]| No. I or No 6. RP741

+ “There’s [sic] inconsistencies on all sides, it’s undeniable.” RP742

e “[Tihere’s no getting around those {inconsistencies in K.C.-J."s
testimony.]” RP747

o “of course her memory is not that great.” RP700.
o “Was [K.C.-].] able to give a significant amount of detail? No, she
wasn't.” RP706.
The Court ot Appeals appears to have overlooked both the
prosecution’s concessions and the record supporting the concessions.
Similarly. while the Opinion states that “some™ of what the
prosecution did was “troublesome.” in ruling against Severson. the Court

of Appeals failed to name the most egregious nusconduct. MTR at 10-17.

For example, the Opinion finds the Statc committed misconduct in closing



argument by asking the jury to convict because two witnesses { Thomas
and Campbell) believed Severson was guilty, but does not quote what the
Pierce County prosecutor argued:

Mike Thomas nailed it on the head when he said, hey, I'm

worried that he’s grooming your children, because that is

exactly what the defendant was doing from the minute he moved
in. The minute he moved in, [The mother] was on methadone. She
was in her room. This is the perfect opportunity for a sexual
predator.

RP 723 {emphasis added). See also ARB 5-13.

The trial court had earlier found that “*grooming” is “the huzz
word. . .inflammatory and it could lead the jury to prejudice,” and granted
an order prohibiting such opinion testimony from coming in. RP 28-29.
The Opinion fails to recognize that the prosecutor promised “never” to
elicit such “grooming” opinion testimony. CP 16: RP 29. And, there was
much more to the State’s closing argument misconduct. E.g. RP 709-12,
723-24, 749, 711 (*This 1s a man who lcoks at these little girls as sexual
beings, as things that he can use as his sexual toys. And that’s why Mike
Thomas’ radar went off, and that’s why Bill Camphbell's radar went oft.”)

Furthermore. when the Opinion was announced on March 29,
2016, it became apparent that Exhibit 1., a videotaped interview with K.C'.-

J., had not been seen by the Court of Appeals. (See “Motion to

Supplement Record With Key Exhibit And Motion For Reconsideration.™)



Exhibit 1 related to many of the issues on appeal, including reliability of
K.C.-1. as a witness, and consequently. the strength of the State’s case. See
AOB. at 4-6, 17-22, 26-28 (K.C.-]."s competency and child hearsay issue):
see also AOB 52-55 (IAC claim for failure to object to uncharged physical
assault discussed by K.C.-I. in the taped interview).

Unfortunately. Court of Appeals issued its Opinion without
reviewing the key exhibit. Op. at 19, th. 11: 29 fn 17. In ruling against
Severson on the ineffective assistance of counsel claims. the Court of
Appeals pointed out “the jury saw the video-recorded forensic interview of
K.C.-J.” Op. at 38. But Exhibit 1 detracts from the State’s case. See AOB
14-16; 20-26, 32-33 (discussing alarming inconsistencies in K.C.-I."s
mutually-exclusive accounts revealed by the exhibit).

After granting thie motion to supplement, the Court of Appeals
denied Severson’s motion for reconsideration. (Appendix B and C.)
However, the Opinion still reads just as it did in the first place, incorrectly
suggesting that K.C.-1."s forensic interview is not part of the record on
appeal and dismissing Severson’s legal claims that by necessity involve

review and analysis of that exhibit. E.g. Op. at 29, fn. 17.



E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. This Court should grant review because the Court of
Appeals failed to correctly identify all of the
prosecutorial misconduct helow and failed to
correctly analyze the ensuing prejudice.

a. Prosecutorial misconduct violates the fundamental
constitutional right to a tair tral,

An accused 1s guaranteed the right to a fair trial by an impartial
Jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI Const. art. 1, §§ 3, 21, 22, ~“The right to have
factual questions decided by the jury is crucial to the right to trial by jury.”

State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 183 P.3d 267 (2008): Berger v.

United States. 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L.Ed. 1314 (1935); U.S.
Const. amends. VI, XIV: Const. art. [, §§ 3. 22. Witnesses “may not testify
as to the guilt of defendants, either directly or by inference,” otherwise the
accused’s constitutional right to a trial by jury is violated. State v.
Ohmedo. 112 Wi, App. 525, 530, 533, 49 P.3d 960 (2002).

Because the defendant 1s among the people the prosecutor
represents, the prosecutor “owes a duty to defendants to see that their

rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not viclated.” State v. Monday, 171

Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). See also State v. Huson, 73 Wn.2d

6060, 663, 440 P.2d 192 (1968), cert. denied, 393 U.S. 1096, §9 5.Ct. 886,

21 L.Ed.2d 787 (1969); State v. Bochning, 127 Wn. App. 5il, 518, 111

P.3d 899 (2005) (misconduct to refer to uncharged crimes in closing).



“[W]hile [a prosecutor| may strike hard blows. Lie is not at liberty
to stnke toul ones.” Berger, 295 U.S. at 88. References to evidence
outside of the record and bald appeals to passion and prejudice constitute
misconduct. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 747, 202 P.3d 937 (2009),

Where a defendant raises the issuc of prosccutorial misconduct for
the first time on appeal, “the defendant must also show “that the
misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would

not have cured the prejudice.” State v. Walker,  Wn.2d . 341 P.3d

076, 985 {(2015). quoting In re Personal Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d

696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012) (both cases involving reversal of convictions
obtained by the Pierce County prosecuting attorney’s office).

The cumulative effect of repetitive prejudicial prosecutorial
misconduct may be so flagrant that no instruction or series of instructions
can erase their combined prejudicial effect. State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66,
76,298 P.2d 500 (1956).

b. Review should be granted o correct the Court of
Appeals® approach te the misconduct present below.

This case presents a whirlwind of misconduct. AOB at 6-7, 38-49;
ARB 5-10. While the Court of Appeals found some of what the State did
below to be misconduct — for example that witness Thomas gave improper

opinion of guilt testimony — review should be granted to correct the Court

9



of Appeals narrow approach to this issue and to correctly analyze the
ensuing prejudice.

First, witness Bill Campbell’s opinion of guilt testimony should be
recognized as improper opinion of guilt testimony and the Opinion
mcorrectly mintmized the importance of Campbell’s accusations. E.g.: Op.
at 9 (“nothing about Campbeil’s testimony goes directly to a core element
of the charges against Severson.”) The litany of Campbell’s impressions
and opinions about what he saw of Severson’s interactions with the girls
directly related to the “sexual contact”™ element and his testimony was
chock-full of epinions purposetully elicited by the prosecution. E.g. “*And
why did seeing that make you uncomfortable?” RP 293-94. Campbell was
not asked to just “simply relay[] what he had seen.” Op. at 9. He was
asked to relay what he felt, much as witness Thomas was. AOB 39-41.

The Opinton does not mention there was a pretrial order
prohiibiting such opinion testimony from coming in, as well as a promise
from the prosecutor *never™ to clicit it. CP 16, RP 29. And. in closing
argument, the prosecutor used Campbell’s opinions and Thomas’s
opinions in tandem. RP 709-12, 723-24, 749. E.g. “Mike Thomas and Bill
Campbell... came to the conclusion that something was off with the
defendant.” RP 709-710. *“This is a man who looks at these little girls as

sexual beings, as things that he can use as his sexual toys. And that’s why

L0



Mike Thomas™ radar went off, and that’s why Bill Campbell’s radar went
oft.” RP 711 (emphases added). Review should be granted because
Campbell gave his opinion of guilt just as Thomas did.

Next, the Court of Appeals is wrong in claiming that the
prosecutor’s interjection of the word “grooming™ — somehow fell within
what was permissible by the trial court in limine ruling. Op. at 11-12. The
trial court did not want the jury to be told that Thomas held the belief that.
Severson had been “grooming” the girls and this should be recognized:

grooming is the buzz word. .. it is an inflammatory word and it

could lead the jury to prejudice beyond what the actual
meaning is in terms of weighing a verdict one way or the other,

It's like gang affiliation...

RP 28 (trial court ruling} (emphasis added).

Contrary to what the Court of Appeals found, the State did violate
the pretrial ruling and then ran with it in closing argument.

Mike Thomas nailed it on the head when he said, hey, 1'm worried

that he's grooming your children, because that 1s exactly what the
defendant was doing from the minute he moved in.

RP 723 (emphasis added).

This was misconduct and should be recognized as such. As the tral
court ruled pretrial. a claim of “grooming™ is precisely the type of
prejudicial testimony that can affcet a jury’s “weighing a verdict one way

or the other.” RP 28.

11



The prosecutor also argued in closing that the jurors probably had

not “even heard everything the deftendant dic.™ RP 699, This was

misconduct. State v. Boehning, 127 Wn. App. at 519-23. On this point. the
Court of Appeals also nceds correcting. Op. at 13-14.

Taken on the whole. the Court of Appeals” prejudice analysis was
woetully inadequate and based on presumptions that are not supported by
the record. For example, the Opinion asserts that the “feelings and
opinions of Thomas and Campbell were not central pieces of evidence
proving Severson guilty.” Op. at 15. But, the State’s repetition of these
improper opinions of guilt throughout closing argument shows otherwisc.
RP 709-12, 723-24, 749. And. as pointed out above, the Opinion omits
and fails to discuss one of the most inflammatory remarks made by the
prosecutor in closing argument, the “nailed it on the head when he said...
he's grooming your children™ statement that attacks Severson as an
oppertunistic “sexual predator,” RP 723.

To call this just “troublesome™ does not go nearly far enough. Op.

at 16.~. Like in Glassman and Walker, the prosecutorial misconduct should

be recognized for exactly what it 1s: reversible error. Sce also AOB at 38-

¢ The prosecuior’s argument cxplicitly told the jury that these witnesses’
“radar” was right. that they correctly read “smoke” and that they correctly “knew
something was off.” RP 711, 749. The jury instructions gave the jury permission to fully
accept and adopt this improper argument.



49; ARB 5-9. This Court has been clear that the prejudice analysis “does
not turn on whether there is sutficient evidence to convict without the
[wrongly admitted] evidence,” but apparently this principle must be

repeated. State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 434, 269 P.3d 207 (2012).

The cumulative effect of multiple errors can violate due process
even where no single error rises to the level of a constitutional violation or

would independently warrant reversal. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S.

284,298, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973).

In analyzing prejudice in a casc in which it is questionable whether
any single trial error examined in isolation is sufficiently
prejudicial to warrant reversal, this court has recognized the
importance of considering the cumulative effect of multiple errors
and not simply conducting a balkanized. issue-by-issue harmless
eITOr review.

Daniels v. Woodford, 428 F.3d 1181, 1214 (9th Cir. 2005) quoting

Thomas v. Hubbard, 273 F.3d 1164, 1178 (9th Cir.2001).

Here, the Court of Appeals has misapplied the cumulative error
doctrine, refusing to take a “big picture” view of the mesh of errors below.
On these facts, where the State conceded below that its case was weak,
there is a real danger that the misconduct atfected the trial outcome.

Review should be granted.

13



2. This Court should likewise grant review because the Court of
Appeals failed to correctly identify the ineffective assistance of
counsel problems present in the case.

a. The Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel.

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a detendant must
show that defense counsel's representation was deficient (fell below an
objective standard of recasonableness) and counsel’s errors caused
prejudice (there is a reasonable probability that the result of the

proceeding would have been different). State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222,

743 P.2d 816 (1987} Stnckland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104

S.Ct. 2052, 20064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). U.S. Cons. Amend. V1.

To prevail on a clatm of ineffective assistance of counsel based on
a failure to object, the defendant must show: (1) the absence of a
legitimate strategic or tactical reason for net ebjecting; (2) that the frial
court would have sustained the objection if imade; and (3) the result of the
trial would have differed if the evidence had not been admitted. State v.
Saunders, 91 Wn. App. 575, 578, 958 P.2d 364 (1998). Competency of
counsel is determined based upon the entire record below. State v. White,

81 Wn.2d 223,225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972). State v. McFarland. 127 Wn.2d

323, 334-35, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995).

14



b. Time and time again, Severson's trial counsel was ineffective.

Severson had the mistortune of tacing a less-than-scrupulous
prosecutor without the shield of an effective advocate in hts corner. See
AOB at 49-65: ARB at 10-13. While a presumption of competent
representation may be a logical starting point in general, the number of red
flags present below is astonishing. E.g. RP 19, AOB at 61-62 (inal
counsel not understanding that complainants® mother could be impeached
with misdemeanors crimes of dishonesty). Speculation about complex trial
strategy is misplaced when the record shows trial counsel is failing to

correctly take care of the basics. Accord State v. Jones, 183 Wn. 2d 327,

340,352 P.3d 776 (2015) (“courts will not defer to trial counsel's
uninformed or unreasonable failure to interview a witness.”).

Here, defense counsel was deficient in conceding that K.C.-J. was
competent and in failing to contest the admissibility of child hearsay. AOB
50-32. Furthermore, defense counsel was also deficient in allowing a
whole host of prejudicial evidence come m against Severson.

Defense counsel failed to move to keep out an allegation that
Severson committed an uncharged physical assault against K.C.-J. AOB
52-34, The Court of Appeals should have recognized this as deficient

performance that prejudiced Severson.

15



Here, multiple witnesses expressed thetr implied or express
opinions of guilt, optmons that have no place in a cniminal case. State v.
Borsheim, 140 Wn. App. 357, 374, 165 P.3d 417 (2007), citing State v.
Alexander, 64 Wn. App. 147, 154, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992}, Some were
clicited by the prosecutor and not objected to, and others, inexplicably,
were elicited by defense counsel himself, RP 290-299, 300, RP 481, 484,
396, 406. With the “grooming” opinion. defense counsel failed to ask for
an appropriate limiting instruction. RP 26, 396, 403, 460.

Severson’s lawyer failed to lodge what would have been a winning
hearsay objection to a child nterviewer's testimony and this failure put in
front of the jury substantive evidence of his guilt. AOB at 55-56. The
Court of Appeals hypothesized that tiial counsel “may have not objected
in order to avoid bringing undue attention to ihe statement’ and noted that
“such a strategy can be described as a legitimate trial tactic.” Op. at 30.
However. the precedent cited for this proposition are inapposite. Neither

State v. Gladden. 116 Wn.App. 561. 568, 66 P.3d 1095 (2003) nor State v.

Kloepper, 179 Wn.App. 343, 356, 317 P.3d 1088, review denied 180
Wn.2d 1017 (2014) dealt with evidence so directly damning.

In Gladden, the failure to object was to a flecting reference by a
witness that s/he had known the defendant after prison, made to a jury

already provided with a certified judgment and sentence documenting

16



Gladden was a felon and had been convicted of a serious crime. Similarly.
in Kloepper, the failure to object was to a fleeting reference that the police
may have obtained a photo of the defendant from a source other than
Departiment of Licensing records. This was at worst an attenuated
suggestion that Kloepper had some prior contact with the police, not a
major point of contention.

Here. on the other hand, allowing the child interviewer lo give
substantive testimony that the older sister had seen something happen to
her younger sister was radically different. A timely objection would have
“stress[ed] to the jury that the testimony was admitted only for a limited
purpose and may not be considered as evidence of the defendant's guilt.”
State v. Aaron, 57 Wn.App. 277, 281, 787 P.2d 949 (1990). The
instruction would have appropnately alerted the jury that the evidence was
being admitted only for impeachiment of the older sister and nothing else.

Accord State v. Redmond, 150 Wn.2d 489, 495-9¢6. 78 P.3d 1001 (2003)

(“no justification for the trial court not providing an appropriate limiting

instruction” in part because jurors may otherwise misuse evidence).
Objecting and asking for the limiting instruction was the one and

only legitimate trial tactic here. Had trial counsel requested the instruction.

the older sister’s credibility would have been undercut and Severson
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would have been shielded trom a claim that there was corroboration for
the younger sister’s account.
This Court should grant review and make clear to the lower courts

that the Sixth Amendment requires more. Accord State v. Thompson, 161

N.H. 507, 530, 20 A.3d 242 (2011) (trial counsel’s pattern of failing to
lodge hearsay objections in a child sexual assault case “can at best be
characterized as imprudent, and more accurately, completely irrational”
and “can only be attributed to a lack of understanding of the rules of

evidence or extreme carelessness™); See also Baldwin v. Adains. 899 F.

Supp. 2d 889, 914 (N.D. Cal. 2012) (habeas corpus relief granted in part
because detense counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to ask

for a limiting instruction as to hearsay); Cvars v. Hotbauer, 383 F.3d 485,

495 (6th Cir. 2004) (deficient performance for failure to request imiting
instruction as to out-of-court hearsay that went to heart of charges);

Ramirez v. State, 987 S.W.2d 938, 946 {Tex. App. 1999) (*there is no

plausible trial strategy by which to excuse defense counsel's failure. ..
failure to object to this obvious hearsay, or even to request an instruction
limiting the jury's consideration of the statement to impeachment, was an
error so serious that he was not functioning as the “counsel” guaranteed by

the United States and Texas constitutions.™); Owens v. State, 916 S.W.2d

713, 719 (Tex. App. 1996) (“Defense counsel's course ot conduct cannot

18



be considered sound trial strategy. There is no plausible strategy to pass
over the admission of the only evidence of a defendant's guilt which is
also “clearly inadmissible™ as substantive evidence.”™)

Just as the failure to object to the Arnold hearsay testimony cannot
be excused as a legitimate trial tactic, neither can the failure to object to
Campbell and Thomas’s testimony. Op. at 31-32; AOB 56-60. The
damaging impact of these witnesses” opintons 18 made plain in the State’s
closing argument. Notably, it must have been viewed as prejudicial at
some point by defense counsel, who moved in limine to keep such
opinions out, CP 16, RP 29,

Even though defense counsel said “I don’t see any crimes that are
admissible under 609.” ER 609 impeachment was plainly available to the
defense. RP 19. Under ER 609, cvidence that a witness previously
committed a crime of dishonesty is categorically admissible for
impeachment purposes. State v. Jones, 101 Wn.2d 113, 117, 677 P.2d 131

(1984), overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown, 111 Wn.2d 124,

761 P.2d 588 (1988). *[Crimes of theft, per se. invelve dishonesty.” State
v. Ray, 116 Wn.2d 531, 545-46, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991). State v.
Farnsworth. 184 Wn. App. 305, 340 P.3d 890 (2014).

Impeachment by prior conviction evidence is powerful and

informative. This is precisely why a jury that hears about prior crimes of
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dishonesty is told that it may consider those crimes in evaluating the
credibility of a witness. The Opinion’s prejudice assessment — based on
the assertion that “S.C."s credibility was neither pure nor imperative to the
jury finding Severson guilty™ — flatly misses the mark. Op. at 36.
Impeaching S.C.’s testimony would have been consistent with trial
counscl’s chosen defense strategy. When Severson’s lawyer failed to
impeach the mother with evidence of her prior convictions, Severson lost
out on an opportunity to undercut the State’s case. That is the very
definition of prejudice.

Review should also be granted to declare that trial counsel eliciting
the detective’s opinion that Severson was guilty was nothing less than
deficient and prejudicial performance. RP 681-82. Trial counsel settled on
a strategy of arguing the offense had not happened: “Our position 18
nobody did it; they're making this up.” RP 20-21. There was no rational
basis to ask the detective: “You weren't thinking that Mr. Campbell did
this, were you?... Or Mr. Thomas, right?” and get him to atfirm “You

thought Mr. Severson, did this? RP 682. Like in Statc v. Saunders, 91 Wh.

App. 575. 580, 958 P.2d 364 (1998), what counsel did warrants reversal.
Of course, Seversen’s trial lawyer also rendered ineffective
assistance of counsel in failing to object to the prosecutorial misconduct at

closing. AOB at 63. State v. Horton, 116 Wn. App. 909,920, 68 P.3d




1145 (2003) (reversing sex offense convictions: finding defense counsel
performed deficiently by not objecting to tlagrantly improper argument).
To the extent that a violation of the Sixth Amendment right to
effective assistance of counsel requires proof of prejudice under
Strickland, the record shows Severson was prejudiced by the deficiencies
described above. Scc also AOB at 49-64; ARB at 10-13. And. “prejudice
may result from the cumulative impact of multiple deficiencies,” obviating
the need to examine the individual prejudicial impact of cach deficiency.

Harmis v. Wood, 64 F.3d 1432, 1438-39 (9th Cir.1995).

The Court of Appeals” review of this record. chockful of defense
counsel’s shortconmngs. was too lax. Review should be granted and the
case reversed for a new trial, so that the lower courts are renunded that the
Sixth Amendment requires more than what Severson reccived.

3. This Court should likewise grant review because the Court of

Appeals failed to correctly address the child competency and

child hearsay problems.

a. Review should be granted to properly address the competency
problem and to confirm that a de novo standard of review applies.

Witnesses. children or adults, “who appear incapable of receiving
just impressions of the facts, respecting which they are examined, or
relating them truly™ are not competent to testify. RCW 5.60.050(2).

Competency “depends on the capacity and intelligence of the child, [the



child's] appreciation of the difference between truth and falsehood, as well
as of [the child's] duty to tell the former.” State v. S.J.W., 170 Win.2d 9.2,

101. 239 P.3d 568 (2010), quoting Wheeler v. United States, 159 U.S.

323,524,160 S.Ct. 93, 40 L.Ed. 244 (1895). To testity, the child witness
must have: (1) an understanding of the obligation to speak the truth on the
witness stand; (2) the mental capacity at the time of the occurrence
concerning which he is to testify, to receive an accurate impression of it;
(3) a memory sufficient to retain an independent recollection of the
occurrence: (4) the capacity to express in words s memery of the
occurrence; and (5) the capacity to understand simple questions about it.
State v. Allen, 70 Wn.2d 690, 692, 424 P.2d 1021 (1967).

“[Elach element of the Alien test is critical.” Jenkins v. Snohomish

Cnty. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1. 105 Wn.2d 99, 102-03. 713 P.2d 79 (1986).

This Court has said that a trial court’s competency determination is

reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Brousseau, [72 Wn.2d 331,

340, 259 P.3d 209 (2011). However, the appellate court will *examine the
entire record to review that determination.™ State v. Avila, 78 Wn. App.
731, 737.899 P.2d 11 (1995). In addition, if the competency
determination was made “on documentary evidence i the record rather
than on personal observation of the witness,” the court on appeal may

review the trial court finding de novo. Jenkins at 102 (reversing trial court



finding of competency as record showed child had given two mutually
exclusive accounts ot accident in question).

Here. the tral court’s ruling on K.C.-J."s competency should be
reviewed de novo and reversed. Exhibit 1, the video-recording of the
child’s pretrial interview, captured far richer detail than what transcript
typically reveals. Like the deposition in Jenkins, this Court’s access to that
evidence is the same as that of the trial court. Alarmingly, the Court of
Appeals has not addressed the video interview even after Severson’s
motion to supplement was granted. Supra at 6-7; Appendix B.

Furthermore, while the Court of Appeals noted several times that
“the case tumed on the credibility of K.C.-J., J.N.K.. and Severson,” it left
out the tact that K.C.-J. was an exceptionally poor witness for the State.

Op. at 37, 38. Like the child in Jenkins who could not stick to one logical

version of events, K.C.-J. also gave mutually exclusive accounts, both

claiming and denying vaginal-digital rape. AOB 20-21: 23-26; RP 181-82.

The Opinion leaves this out.

As argued in the opening briet, Severson contends that the child’s
adherence to these mutually exclusive “truths” demonstrates something
altogether different than inconsistency: the witness was not competent.

AQOB 20-26. Jenkans, supra: Matter of Dependency of A.E.P.. 135 Wn.2d

208, 234,956 P.2d 297 (1998).



Review should be granted and this Court should to resolve the
important question ot what review standard should apply when a key
witness's lack of competency ts 1n serious doubt. can be reviewed de novo
by an appellate court because the necessary documents are there. but was
unaddressed by the trial court. AOB at 20-27; ARB 1-3.

1. Review should also be granted to properlv address the child
hiearsay problem and re-educate the [ower courts how to apply the
Ryan factors,

The child hearsay rule is based in statute. RCW 9A.44.120. The
reliability of child hearsay is assessed according to factors articulated in
State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165, 175-76. 691 P.2d 197 (1984). No single

factor. taken alone, is decisive. State v. kennealy, 151 Wn. App. 861, 881,

214 P.3d 200 (2009). However. “the factors must be ‘substantially met’
before a statement 1s demonstrated to be reliable.” Id. A trial court’s
decision to admit child hearsay statements is reviewed for an abuse of

discretion. State v. Woods. 154 Wn.2d 613, 623, 114 P.3d 1174 (2005).

With respect to the Ryan factor analysis of K.C.-I's alleged
statement t© her mother, 5.C.. the Court of Appeals wroie that “nothing in
the record suggest that S.C."s emotions gave K.C.-J. motive to fabricate.”
Op. at 23. But just as in Ryan, this was an upsct mother questioning her
nervous children. AOB 29-30 (discussing record where the child described

her mother as mad and sad, while K.C.-]. was scared and nervous) (see RP



85,172,216, 264.} In fact, this case has a great deal i common with
Ryan. There was a motive to please/lie, there was only one listener ot the
hearsay (the mother), this was not a spontaneous utterance (shc questioned
K.C.-]. and “had to explain™ what “uncomfortable™ meant) {see RP 84.) In
Ryan. the child hearsay was deemed unreliable precisely because that
parent also “predisposed to confirm what [she] had been told™ and had
“questionablc™ objectivity. Ryan, at 176. Sce also AOB 27-34: ARB 3-5.

The Opinion states: “[w]c rely on the fact-finder™ in the Ryan

analysis. Op. at 23. But, deference to the fact-finder makes sense where an
issue was properly litigated. That was not the case here, where trial
counsel did not contest child hearsay admissility. It may be that one
Ryan factor shortcoming is not enough to show lack of reliability, but
here, each of the relevant factors is lacking in one way or another.

Review should be granted and this Court should re-educate the

lower courts on how to correctly apply Ryan.

4, Alternatively, this Court should grant review and order
the Court of Appeals to reconsider Severson’s claims in
light of what Exhibit 1 shows.

The Court of Appeals granted Severson's motion to supplement

the record with a key exhibit (Exhibit 1 video) and then deferred ruling on
the motion for reconsideration. (Appendix B.} Given that the Opinion

asserts that Exhibit 1 was not made part of the appellate record, any ruling



on the motion for reconsideration should have re-addressed Severson’s
claims. But, the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration Jeaves the
March 29, 2016 Opinion unchanged without explanation. That Opiion
now incorrectly states that ExInbit 1 is not part of the record.

Severson respectfully requests that this Court consider the grant of
the altermative remedy of reversing and remanding the matter for the Court
of Appeals to reconsider the appeal in light of the completed record.

F. CONCLUSION

Fundamentally. review should be granted because the Court of
Appeals' analysis of what is error and what constitutes prejudice was
woefully inadequate. The errors below were plentiful and prejudicial. but
the Court of Appeals was just too lackadaisical in its review.

For the reasons set out in this petition and the other briefing
submitted on appeal, this Court should grant review and reverse.

DATED this 18" day of June, 2016

Respectfully submitted.

/s/ Mick Wovnarowski

Mick Woynarowski — WSBA 32801
Washington Appellate Project
Attomey for Appellant
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WoRsWICK. . — Michael Joe Severson appeals his convictions for four counts of first
degree child molestation of K.C.-I. and IN.K." Severson makes copious arguments including
ihat (1) K.C.-J. was not competent to testify, (2) K.C.-]."s hearsay statements were inadmissible,
{3) the State committed several instances of prosecutorial misconduct, and (4) trial counsel
rendered ineffective assistance. We affinm.

FACTS

Michael Severson met 5.C., the mother of K.C.-J. and J.N K., through a mutual friend.
S.C. was working a graveyard shift and necded help taking care of K.C.-J. and I.N K, who were
four and ten years old, respectively. Severson eventually moved into S5.C."s apartment. The
children referred to Severson as “Mikey.” V Verbatim Report of Proceedings (VRP) (April 15,

2014) at 383, S.C., whe was taking methadone, spent most of the day in her bedroom slecping,

" We use initials to identify the minor victims and certain witnesses under this court’s General
Order 2011-1 Lo protect the victims’ privacy.
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Biil Campbell lived in another apartment in the same complex and cventually moved in
with 5.C., the children, and Severson. Campbell saw interactions between Severson and the girls
that concerned him. One night Campbell witnessed J.N.K. hugping Severson and sitiing on the
couch “[llike a boyfriend and girlfriend would,” around 1:00 aM. TV VRT (Apnil 14, 2014) at
291. Campbell also witnessed K.C.-J. straddling Severson on the couch several times. At trial,
Campbell testified. “The hair stood up on my neck, and it just bothered me. T won't even lay
with my own kid like that, Not that it’s inappropriate, but in my opinion, it was mappropriate.”
IV VRP {April 14, 2014) at 293-94.

Mike Thomas was friends with S.C.. the girls. and Severson. One day, while Thomas
was watching K.C.-J, play in his yard he saw her hit herself repeatediy in her grom area. He
asked ler why she was hitting herself, and K.C -J. responded, “Mikey does it.” V VRP (Apnil
15, 2014) at 457. Thomas described K.C.-1."s action as mimicking male masturbation. Afier
that episode, Thomas began paying close attention to Severson’s interactions with the girls and
noticed that Severson would rub K.C.-1.’s upper inner thigh while she sat on his lap and
frequently scemed possessive and controlling ot the girls. Shortly thereafter, Thomas expressed
his concerns about Severson’s interactions with the girls to S.C., stating that he thought Severson
was “grooming” the girls. 'V VRP (April 15, 2014) at 458.

After Thomas expressed his concerns to S.C., S.C. talked to Campbell, and then she sat

cach girl down individually and asked f Severson had ever made them feel uncomfortable.
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K.C.-]1. toid S.C. that Severson made her uncomfortable and disclosed that Severson had rubbed
her “no-no.”™* V VRP (April 15, 2014) at 402.

After her conversation with the girls, S.C. called law enforcement which started an
investigation. Each child underwent a medical examination and a forensic interview, Keri
Arnold conducted video-recorded forensic iterviews with each girl. The State charged Severson
with two counts of first degree child molestation of J.N.K., and two counts of first degree child
molestation of K.C.-].

At a pretral hearing, the State asked the trial court to rule three out-of-court statements
made by K.C.-J. to §.C., Thomas, and during the lorensic interview, admissible as child hearsay
under RCW 9A 44,120, and to find K.C.-J. competent to testify at trial.* Severson made no
objection to the admission of the three statements under RCW 9A 44,120 or to K.C.-1.7s
competency Lo testify at trial. The trial court ulttmately found the statements satisfied the Ryan
reliability test, and tound K.C-J. competent to testity at trial. State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165, 173-

77,0691 P.2d 197 (1984).

*+ S.C. testified that K.C.-J. and J.N.K. refer to their vaginal area as a “no-no” because nobody is
supposed to touch it.

* I.N.K.’s comments to Carter were not admitted at trial.

% The primary purpose of the pretrial hearing was to determine whether K.C.-1.7s three
statements were sufficiently reliable under the Ryan test to be admitted as child hearsay. Stare v
Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165, 173-77, 691 P.2d 197 {1984). To be admissible at trial, RCW 9A 44,120
requires that the child hearsay be sufficiently reliable and that the child either testify at the
proceedings, or 1f the child 15 unavailable as a witness that there be corroborative evidence of the
act{s) mentioned in the hearsay statements. To satisfy the sccond requirement for the
admissibility of K.C.-J."s hearsay statements, the court addressed K.C.-I."y competency to stand
trial, applied the requisite five-factor Alfen test. and determined K.C.-J. was competent. Stare v
Alfen, 70 Wn.2d 690, 692424 P.2d 1021 (1967).
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At trial, Campbell and Thomas testified as described above, K.C.-J. testified that a “bad
thing™ had happened to her with Severson in their hving room. describing that Severson touched
her “no-no” and would not stop when she asked hum to. IV VRP (April 14, 2013 at 164, IN.K.
also testified that Severson had done "bad things™ such as touching her "no-no.” 1V VRP (April
14, 2014y at 207. Amold testified about the forensic interviews she conducted with K.C.-J. and
J.N.X., and the video recording of her interview with K.C.-J. was admitted into evidence.

Severson testified in lus defense. and dented inappropriately touching either K.C.-J. or
FN.K. Severson also testified that he may have accidentally touched the girls’ vaginal areas.

A jury later returned a verdict of guilty on all counts. Severson appeals.

ANALYSIS
I K.C.-J's COMPETENCY

Severson argues that the trial court erred by finding K.C.-1. competent to testify.
Severson failed to preserve the issue of K.C.-I.'s competency for appeal by conceding it at the
pretrial hearing.

We generally will not consider a claimed error that was not raised in the tral court. RAP
2.5(a).” This aliows the trial court to correct any error called to its attention, thus avoiding
needless appeals and retrials. Stare v. O Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009).

At the pretrial hearing regarding K.C.-I."s hearsay statements, Severson made no

objection to K.C.-)."s competency. Ruther, Seversen's counsel stated:

* RAP 2.5(a) excepts “manifest error{s] affecting a constitutional right,” however Severson
makes no argument, nor presents any tacts, suggesting any such error occurred.
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[ don’t have any specific objections to the finding that [K.C.-J.] is competent, 1
think she is certainly able to relate her memory and facts and answer questions. so
I believe she 1s competent. She is avatlable.

You know, again, I don’t object. 1don’t dispute that she is not [sic] competent. 1
believe she 1s competent, but I think we need to make that finding.

i iaéiieve she was competent . . . in my judgment at least.
II VRP {(April 9, 2014) at 123, 129-30.

K.C.-]. testified at the pretrial hearing and again at trial. Severson made no objection at
any time to K.C.-].’s competence, and as his comments at the pretrial hearing show, he conceded
that K.C.-J. was competent to testity. As a result, Severson fatled to preserve this issue for
appeal and we do not address it.®

H. K.C.-J1's OUT-OF-COURT STATEMENTS

Severson argues that the trial court erred by admitting K.C.-I"s three out-of-court
statements made to S.C., to Arnold, and to Thomas, as child hearsay under RCW 9A 44,120, We
hold that Severson failed to preserve the 1ssue of K.C.-]."s out-of-court statements” admissibility
by failing to object to them at the pretrial hearing.

As explamed above, an appellate court generally will not consider a claimed error that

was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a).” A party objecting to the admission of evidence

® We address Severson’s imeffective assistance of counsel arguments below.

7 Although RAP 2.5(a) excepts “manifest error[s] affecting a constitutional right,” there is no
constitutiona! viotation i admitting child hearsay statements when, as here, the child testifies at
trial and 13 available for cross-examination. Staie v. Leavitr, 111 Wn2d 66, 71, 758 P.2d 982
(1988). State v. Stevens, 58 Wn. App. 478, 486, 794 P.2d 38, review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1025
(1990).
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must make a timely and specific objection in the trial court. ER 103, Tailure to object precludes
raising the 1ssue on appeal.

Here, the trial court held a pretrial hearing outside the jury’s presence regarding the
admissibility of K.C.-I's out-of-court statements. At the hearing, Scverson’s counsel explained:

['m going to be frank with the Court. I would just ask the court {o go through the

Rvun factors, [don’t have any specific arguments that these statements should not

be admitted. I think the Court can go through the analysis of these factors and just

make a record, but I don’t have any specific abjections.
1T VRP {(April 9, 2014) at 122-23. The court found the Rvan factors were satisfied and ruled the
out-of-court statements admissible.

Because Severson did not timely object to the admission of K.C.-I"s out-of-court
statements, he failed to preserve this issue and we do not address it.

[ BETECTIVE EGGLESTON'S TESTIMONY

Severson argues the trial court erred by admitting improper perpetrator profile testimony
trom Detective Eggleston. We disagree because Severson did not object to Detective
Eggleston’s testimony as improper profile testimony, and therefore he did not properly preserve
this issue for appeal.

As a general rule. perpetrator profile testimony s improper because it carries with it the
“implied opinion that the defendant is the sort of person who would engage in the alleged act,

and therefore did it in #his casc t00.” State v. Braliam, 67 Wn. App. 930, 939, n.6, 841 P.2d 785

(1992). However, Severson did not object to Detective Eggleston’s testimony on this basis at

4]
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trial. Instead, he objected to the relevance of the State's line of questioning.® A party may only
assign error on appeal based on the specific ground of the evidentiary objection at trial. Siafe v.
Gulov, 104 Wn.2d 412, 422,705 P.2d 1182 {1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S. Ct. 1208,
89 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1986). An objection to the admission of evidence based on relevanee fails to
prescrve the issue for appellate review based on improper perpetrator testimony. See Gulov, 104
Wn.2d at 422, Consequently, we hold that Severson did not preserve this issue for appeal.

IV. PROSCECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

Severson argues that the State committed several instances of prosecuterial misconduct
mcluding improperly eliciting witnesses” opinions of guilt, violating motions in limine, and by
making improper closing argument. We disagree.

To prevail on a prosecutorial misconduct claim, a defendant must show that the
prosecutor’s conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn. 2d 438,
442, 2538 P.3d 43 (2011). To show prejudice, a defendant must show a substantial likelihood that
the misconduct affected the verdict. 172 Wn.2d at 442-43. [n analyzing prejudice, we do not
look at the comment in isolation, but in the context of the total argument, the issues in the case,
the cvidence, and the instructions given to the jury. Staze v, Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 774, 168
P.3d 359(2007).

A defendant who fails to object to the prosecutor’s improper act at trial warves any error,

unless the act was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction could not have cured the

% Severson objected that the line ol questioning was irrelevant and asked that it be excluded. The
State responded that the questioning provides context for Severson’s inconsistent statements and
establishes the rapport between Severson and Detective Eggleston. The trial court ruled. T will
allow just a little bit more, Counsel.” VI VRP {April 21, 2014} at 665.
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resulting prejudice. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 443, In this instance. a defendant must show that
(1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury. and (2) the
misconduct resufted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict.
172 Wn.2d at 455,

Al Improper Opinion of Guilt Testimony

Severson argues the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by twice eliciting
improper opinion testimony as to Severson's guiti. Specificaily, he argues the prosecutor
improperly asked Campbell to give his opintons about Severson's interactions with the children,
and asked Thomas about his concerns for the children and why he did not want to talk about the
allegations in front of the girls. Because Campbell’s testimony was not an improper opinion of
guilt, and a timely objection to Thomas's testimony would have allowed the trial court to cure
any potential prejudice, we disagree.

A witniess expresses opinion testimony if the witness (estifies to beliefs or ideas rather
than the facts at issue. State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 760, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). Generally,
no witness may offer opinion testimony regarding the guilt or veracity of the defendant or the
credibility of a witness; such testimony is unfairly prejudicial “because it ‘[invades] the
exclusive province of the [finder of fact].”™ 144 Wn.2d at 759 (internal quotation marks omitted)
(quoting City of Seaftle v. Heatlev, 70 Wn. App. 573,577, 854 P.2d 658 (1993)).

V. Campbell's Testimony

On direct examination, the prosccutor asked Camphell about the interactions he
witnessed between Severson and the children. Campbell described a time he walked by their

open apartment door and saw Severson and J.N.K. sitting together on the couch. The prosecutor
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asked, “So at that time, that just made you just take a double look?” TV VRP (April 14, 2014) at
291. Campbell responded, “Yeah. That—kind of concerning and kind of creeped out about it. |
backed up and looked.”™ 1V VRP (April 14, 2014) at 291. Later, the proseculor asked, “What
clse did you sce?” TV VRP (April 14, 2014) at 292, Campbell described other instances, after he
had moved into the same apartment as Severson., S.C.. and the children, where K.C.-J. would lic
on top of Severson on the couch. The prosecutor asked, “And why did seeing that make you
uncomfortable?” To which Campbell responded, “Because—I dort’t know. Because he-—it
just—I don’t know. The hair stood up on my neck. and it just bothered me. 1 won’t even lay
with my own kid like that, Not that it’s inappropriate, but in my opimon, it was inappropriate.”
IV VRP (April 14, 2014) at 293-94,

Severson argues that these statements constituted improper opinions of guilt, and he cites
Stute v. Olmedo, 112 Wn. App. 525, 49 P.3d 960 (2002) to support his arguinent. There,
Division Three of this court held that a witness’s tesiimony as to whether a propane tank was
approved by the United States Department of Transportation was improper opinion of guilt
testimony because wlicther the tank was approved was a core element of the charges against the
appellants. 112 Wn. App. at 532, But nothing about Campbell’s testimony goes directly to a
core element of the charges against Severson. Campbell simply relaved what he had seen, and
noted that he felt the way Severson sat with K.C.-I. was inappropriate. That Campbell
interpreted what he saw as inappropriate does not equate to Campbell stating that Severson
appeared to be making sexual contact as required to be guilty of child molestation. See RCW

0A .44 083.

9
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Severson cannot show ihat Campbell’s statements were improper opinions of guilt. Thus,
the prosecutor did not conumit misconduct in eliciting these statements and Severson's claim on
this ground fails,

2. Thomas's Testimony

Severson also argues the prosecutor comumitted misconduct by eliciting improper opinion
of guilt testimony from Thomas. Severson filed to preserve this 1ssue.

During Thomas's testimony. both Severson and the prosecutor asked Thomas several
questions gbout any conversations he had with S.C., Campbell, or others about Severson’s
alleged abuse and whether they talked about 1t in front of the girls. On redirect, the prosecutor
asked Thomas the following:

[State]: Even in your mention of the defendant’s name. would that cause the girls

to be upset?

[Thomas]: Welil, they would make faces and didn’t want to tafk about him.

[State]: Okay. Because it didn’t make them happy to talk about being abused?

[Thomas]: That's the way it seemed, yes.

[State]: 1have nothing further.

V VRP (April 15, 2014) at 481. Severson did not object.

Severson argues that Thomas's conument “that’s the way it scemed, yes” constifutes
improper opinion of guitt testimony. Br. of Appeilant 40, Severson is correct that this statement
constituted improper opmion of guilt because the prosecutor’s question and affirmative answer
necessarily presume that the children were abused. Whether the children were abused was an
ultimate issue of fact in the case.

However, Severson fails to show that the prosecutor’s actions engendered an incurable

feeling of prejudice in the minds of the jury. Had counsel objected at trial, the court could have

10
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issued a curative instruction to obviate any potential prejudice. Moreover, the jury was properly
instructed that it was the sole judge of witness credibility and was not bound by witness opinions
or the lawyer’s statements.’ State v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 377, 595-96. 1833 P.3d 267 (2008).
Abscnt evidence that the jury was unfairly influenced, we presume that the jury followed the
court’s instructions. 163 Wn.2d at 390. Seversoin makes no showing that Thomas’s answer to
the prosecutor’s improper question engendered an incurable feeling of prejudice in the minds of
the jury that a curative instruction would not have obviated, and therefore his prosecutorial
misconduct claim on this ground fails.
B. “Grooming” Testimony

Severson also argues the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by improperty
elhiciting Thomas's opinion. in violation of a motion in linune, that Severson was “grooming” the

children. We disagree.

? Jury instruction I, in part, read:

You are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness., You are also the sole
judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony ot each witness. In
considering a witness's testimony. you may consider these things: the opportunity
of the witness to observe or know the things he or she testifies about; the ability of
the witness to observe accurately; the guality of a witness’s memory while
testifying: the manner of the witness while testifying; any personal interest that the
witness might have shown; the rcasonableness of the witness’s statements in the
context of all of the other evidence; and any other factors that affect vour evaluation
or belief of a witness or your evaluation of his or her testimeny. . .. It 13 important,
however. for you to remember that the lawyers’ siatements are not evidence. The
evidence is the testimony and the exhibits. The law is contained in my instructions
to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not
supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions.

Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 29.

11
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During motions in limine, Severson moved to exclude any testimony regarding the term
“arooming” or any other behavioral terms used to describe preparatory conduet in child sex
offenders. The State explained it did not intend to elicit opinion lestimony about grooming, but
was planning to introduce Thomas's statemient to S.C. that he thought Severson was grooming
the girls as the basis for S.C. then questioning the girls about Severson. The court granted the
motion in part, explatning:

1 will aflow you to elicit the word “grooming”™ only m the conversation between the

witness and the mother with the limiting instruction that it’s not being offered for

the truth of the matter asserted but simply as a description of what he believes was

occurring. Because there has to be some reason that-—I mean, whether we used

“grooming” or believed he was acting inappropriately, I think the State’s entitled

to bring that out because you can’t [ook at these two gentlemen’s observation in a

vacuum. . . . I don’t want them giving opinions as to the fact that they believed he

was grooming these children as part of their general testimony but only to the

mother in terms of why they had these concemns.
1 VRP (April 8, 2014) 2t 26-27.

At trial, the State asked one question of Thomas invelving the word “grooming.” V VRP
(April 15, 2014) at 458, The questioning was as follows:

[State]: When you talked to [S.C.]. did you express your concerns about the

defendant’s interactions with the girls?

[Thomas]: Yes.

[State]: At that time, did you express any concerit over grooming?

{Thomas]: Yes, 1did.

V VRP (April 15,2014 at 458, This questioning came shortly after S.C. testified that Thomas's
“arooming” comment was the catalyst for her decision to question her daughters. The question
was precisety within the trial cowrt’s ruling on Seversan’s prefrial motion vegarding “grooming.™

The State asked Thomas oniy what he did, not his opinion as to whether Severson was

“arooming” the children.
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We hold that Severson’s prosecutorial misconduct claim based on the State’s violation of
the trial cowrt’s order in limine fails because the prosecutor’s questions to Thomas did not violate
the order.

C. Closing Argwment

Severson further contends that the prosecutor committed prosecutorial misconduct during
closing argument by referencing uncharged criminal conduct, and by inviting the jury to convict
on improper grounds. We agree that some of the prosecutor’s comments were improper, but
hold that they were not so flagrant and ill-intentioned as to be incurable.

We review a proseculor’s comments during closing argament in the context of the total
argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the jury
instructions. State v. Dhalfwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). We focus less on
whether the prosecutor’s misconduct was flagrant or ill-intentioned and more on whether the
resulting prejudice could have been cured. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 762, 278 P.3d 653
(2012). In closing argument. prosecutors are afforded wide latitude to draw and express
reasonable inferences from the evidence. State v. Reed. 168 Wn. App. 533,577,278 P.2d 203.

First, Severson contends the prosecutor referenced uncharged criminal conduct by
stating:

And remember, as [Amold] told you, disclosing sexual abuse, it’s not a moment in

time. You don't disclose and 1t’s over. It's a process. [It’s an ongoing process.

And you probably haven’t even heard everything the defendant did because it 1s a

process, and it’s a process that these two little girls are going to have to live with

tor the rest of their life.

VI VRP (Aprit 22, 2014} at 699. Severson argues that this statement is similar to what

happened in Stare v. Bochning, 127 Wn. App. S11.519-23, 111 P.3d 899 (2005).
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In Boehning, the prosecutor told the jury that several other charges were dropped prior to
trial because the child victim witness was not comtfortable talking about 1t with a group of
strangers, 127 Wn, App. at 519. There, the prosecutor made the previous disclosures of other
sexual acts a central theme in his closing argument, using it to bolster his argument that the
child’s testimony was consistent and arguing that more serious sexual crimes had occurred, 127
Wn. App. at 519-21.

Unlike in Boelning, here the prosecuter’s comment about the process of disclosure was
not a reference to concrete disclosures to other parties or uncharged crimes which were
inadmissible at trial. Rather. the prosecutor was referencing the testimony of Amold that, for
many children, disclosing sexual abuse s a process that happens over the course of many years.
The prosecutor’s argument was based on reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence
presenied at trial and was notl unproper.

Severson also argues that during the State’s closing argument the prosecutor improperly
encouraged the jury to rely on Thomas's and Campbell’s testimonies as evidence of guilt. We
agree that this line of argument was improper. but hold that it was not incurable and did not
affect the jury’s verdict.

The prosecutor referenced Thomas’s and Campbell’s testimony and used il to argue
Severson's guilt:

This is a man who looks at these little girls as sexual beings, as things that he can

usc as his sexual toys. And that's why Mike Thomas™[s] radar went off, and that’s

why Bill Campbell’s radar went off. . | .

When you look at each and every thing the defendant has done, and you
consider Mike's concerns and you consider Bill Campbell’s concerns. and you
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consider what these girls who loved the defendant have described enduring, 1t all

adds up to the same thing. The defendant is guilty of molesting those litile girls.

VII VRP (April 22, 2014) at 711, 724, In rebuttal. the prosecutor used the expression, “Where
there's smoke, there’s fire,” arguing, “[t]here is a lot of smoke from Mr. Severson. There's
smoke in the form of Bill Campbell and Mike Thomas, and they just knew something was oft.
And when [5.C.] sat those girls down, they disclosed one after the other.™ VII VRP (Aprii 22.
2014y at 749.

These arguments went beyond the evidence and inferred that Thomas and Campbell had
valid opinions that Severson was melesting the children. This was improper. However, in light
of ali the evidence, Severson cannot show that the prosecutor’s misconduct resulted in a
substantial likelihood of atfecting the jury verdict. The State’s case against Severson did not
heavily rely on Thomas’s or Campbell’s testimony. Rather, the jury heard direct testimony from
both K.C.-J. and I.N.K. describing their molestation. The jury also watched the video recording
of K.C.-1."s forensic interview where she recounted the molestation in detail. As both Severson
and the prosecutor ultimately recognized in their closing arguments, this case turned on the
credibility of K.C.-J., I.N.K., and Severson. The feelings and opinions of Thomas and Campbell
were not central pieces of evidence in proving Severson guilty beyond a reasonable doubt,

Additionally, the record shows that the prosecutor repeatedly reminded the jury that
proving every ¢lement of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt was the State’s burden to bear.
As we stated above, the jury was properly instructed that 1t was the sole judge of witness

credibility and was not bound by witness opinions or the lawyer’s statements.
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Given the strength of the State’s evidence and the court’s instructions to the jury, there is
no substantial likelihood that the prosecutor’s comments caused prejudice to Severson that could
not have been cured by a curative instruction, or that any misconduct materially affected the
outcome of the trial. Accordingly, we hold that Severson’s claim of prosecutorial misconduct on
this ground fails.

D. Cuimulative Prosecutorial Misconduct

Finally, Severson argues that cumulative instances of prosecutorial miscenduct violated
his night to a fair tnal. We disagree.

Although **[t}he cumulative effect of repetitive prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct may
be so flagrant that no instruction or series of instructions can erase their combined prejudicial
effect,” such is not the case here. Stare v.Lindsay, 180 Wn.2d 423443, 326 P.3d 125 (2014)
(internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting /n re Personal Restraint of Glusmann, 175 Wn.2d
696, 707, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)). “[T]he doctrine does not apply where the defendant fails to
estabiish how claimed instances of prosecutorial misconduct affected the outcome of the trial or
how combined claimed instances affected the outcome of the trial.™ Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d ai
4534, As discussed above, although we find some of the prosecutor’s conduct troublesome, given
the strength of the State’s evidence and the court’s jury instructions. we conclude that the
prosecutor’s limited instances of misconduct did not deny Seversen his right to a fair trial.

V. INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIMS
Severson malkes several ineffective assistance of counscel claims. These claims fail.
To show ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show (1) that defense

counsel’s conduct was deflictent and (2) that the deficient performance resulled m prejudice.
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State v, Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004); see alsa Strickland v,
Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). To show deficient
performance, Severson must show that defense counsel’s performance fell below an objective
standard of reasonableness. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d at 130, To show prejudice, Severson must
show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s purportedly deficient conduct. the outcome
of the trial would have differed. 153 Wn.2d at 130, If Severson fails to establish either prong of
the ineffective assistance of counsei test, we need not inquire further. State v. Foster, 140 Wn.
App. 206, 273, 166 P.3d 726 (2007).

To demonstrate ineffecuve assistance of counsel based on the failure to object. the
defendant nmust show { 1) that the trial court would have sustained the objection if raised, (2) an
absence of legitimale strategic or tactical reasens for failing to object, and (3) that the result of
the trial would have been ditferent. See State v. Johnston. 143 Wn. App. 1. 20, 177 P.3d 1127
{2007). Because ineffective assistance of counsel claims present mixed questions of law and
fact, we review them de novo. State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 P.3d 916 (2009).

Al Defense Counsel Was Not Ineffective For Conceding K.C.-J.'s Conipefency

Severson argues that to the extent trial counsel conceded K.C.-I's competency, counsel
rendered ineffective assistance. We disagree. Because any objection to K.C.-I."s competency
would have been tutile, Severson’s claim fails, See Johnston, 143 Wn. App. at 18.

The threshold for witness competency 1s very low. Washington courts presume that all
witnesses are competent until proved otherwise by a preponderance of the evidence. Srate v.
Broussean, 172 Wn.2d 331, 341, 259 P.3d 209 (2011). Anyone who 1s incapable of receiving

just impressions of the facts or relating them truly is not competent to testify. RCW 5.60.050(2);

17
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CrR 6.12(c):, State v. S 170 Wn.2d 92, 100, 239 P.3d 568 (2010). Although a child’s age 1s
not determinative of her capacity as a witness, five factors must be found betore a cluld can be
declared competent to testify:

{1) an understanding of the obligation to spcak the truth on the witness stand; {2)

the mental capacity at the time of the occurrence concerning which [she] is to

testify, to receive an accurate impression of 11; (3) a memory sufficient to retain an

independent recollection of the occurrence, (4) the capacity 0 express in words

[her] memory of the occurrence; and (5) the capacity to understand simple

questions about it.

I re Dependency of 4. .E.P. 135 Wn.2d 208, 223,956 P.2d 297 (1998) (quoting State v. Allen.
70 Wn.2d 690, 692, 424 P.2d 1021 (1967)). Intelligence, not age, 1s the proper criterion to use in
determining the competency of a young child,'" 4ljen, 70 Wn.2d al 692: see also State v. Bailey,
52 Wn. App. 42, 757 P.2d 541 (1988) (child who was three at time of abuse was competent),
aff 'd. 114 Wn.2d 340 (1990); Srate v. Hunsaker, 39 Wn. App. 489, 693 P.2d 724 (1984)
{children who were four and a half and two and a half at time of alleged molestation were
competent to testify a year later).

Determining a child’s ability to meet the five 4{len factors rests primarily with the trial
judge who sees the child. notices her manner, and considers her capacity and intelligence. A4/len.
70 Wn.2d at 692. “There 1s probably no area of law where it is more necessary to place great
reliance on the trial court’s judgment than in asscssing the competency of a child witness.” Stafe

v. Borland, 57 Wn. App. 7. 11, 786 P.2d 810 (1990), disapproved on otheir grounds by Stute v.

Rolrich, 132 Wn.2d 472, 939 P.2d 697 (1997). These matiers are not refllected in the written

WH.C.-J. was six years old at the time she testified.
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record, and their determination will not be disturbed absent a manifest abuse of discretion. '
Allen, 70 Wn.2d at 692; see also State v. Sivan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 645, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).

Severson argues that K.C.-J, failed to meet three A//en factors; that K.C.-J. understood
her obligation to speak the truth, that K.C.-J. had the mental capactty to receive an accurate
impression of the molestation, and that K.C.-J. had sufficient memory to retain an independent
recollection the molestation.

1. K.C-J Understood Her Obligation To Speak the Truth

Severson argues that K.C.-J. gave mconsistent accounts in her torensic interview and at
the pretrial hearing, and therefore that she lacked the ability to understand what “truth™ means.
Br. of Appellant at 20,

Inconsistencies in a child’s testimony do not necessarily call into question witness
competency. State v. Carfson, 61 Wn. App. 865, 874, 812 P.2d 536 (1991). Instead, such
inconsistencies generally relate to the witness’s credibility and the weight to give his or her
testimony. 61 Wn. App. at 874,

Additionally, the trial court and the State questioned K.C.-J. at length, providing
ample opportunity to observe her demeanor and her ability to answer questions.

After hearing K.C.-1.”s testimony at the pretrial hearing, the trial court opined:

' Severson argues that we should review the trial court’s ruling on K.C.-I's competency de novo
because we have access to the video-recording of K.C.-J's pretrial interview that was viewed at
the pretrial hearing. We disagree because (1) the video was not included in the record on appeal
and (2) the video-recording was not the only evidence the trial court relied on in determining
K.C.-I's competency. K.C.-J. testified at the pretrial hearing and although we have a transcript
of that proceeding, the written record does not provide the same insight into K.C.-J.'s manner or
intelligence that the (rial court was able to discern in person. Aflen, 70 Wn.2d at 692.

19
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[Blased on her testimony here today and the colloquy that the Court went into in
regards to her taking an oath and understanding the difference between telling the
truth and telling a lie, I do find she is competent to stand trial.

Il VRP (April 9, 2014) at 130,

2. K.C-J. Had Menial Capacity To Receive an Accurate Impression of the Molestation
and Had Sufficient Memor To Recollect It

Severson further argues that K.C.-J. did not have “the mental capacity at the time of the
occurrence “to receive an accurate impression of it,” and/or lacked ‘a memory sufficient to retain
an independent recollection.”™ Br. of Appellant 24 (quoting A/len, 70 Wn. 2d at 692). Again, we
disagree.

The charging document alleged that the sexual abuse happened during the time Severson
lived with S.C. and the girls. At the pretrial hearing, K.C.-J. was asked several questions about
other things that happened around the time of the alleged incidents. If a child can relate
contemporancous events, the court can infer the child is competent to testify about the abuse
incidents as well. L £ P, 135 Wn.2d at 225, Here, K.C.-J. was able to describe the types of
activities she and her sister would do with Severson; she could recall playing with Thomas's dog,
and talking to S.C. and Arnold about the alleged incidents. Thomas testified that K.C.-J. would
often play with his dog durmg that time period. Thus the evidence suppoits that K.C.-J. could
receive accurate impressions during the period in which the events occurred.

During a pretrial hearing concerning K.C.-1."s stalements and competence. the court
considered testimony and discussed the Allen faciors appropriately. Ultimately, the trial court

found that K.C.-J. was testimonially competent in that she understood the obligation to speak the



No. 46359-8-11

truth on the witness stand, she had appropriate mental capacity and memory, she had the capacity
to express her memories 1 words, and she had the capacity to understand and answer questions.

There is nothing in the record to suggest that had counsel not conceded K.C.-J.'s
competency and rather objected to it, that the trial court would have come to a different
conclusion. As such, Severson cannot show any deficiency or prejudice from his trial counsel’s
decision to concede K.C.-J."s competency. Therefore. we hold that Severson’s ineffective
assistance of counsel claim on this ground tails.

B. Defense Counsel Was Not Ineffective for Fuiling To Contest the Introduction of K.C.-J.'s
Out-of-Court Statements.

Severson argues his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object to the
nroffered child hearsay statements. We disagree.

RCW 9A 44,120 provides for the admiission of child hearsay statements when (1) the
statements describe sexuai abuse of the child: (2) the trial court finds, in a hearing conducted
outside the jury’s presence, that the time, content, and circumstances of the statements provide
sufticient indicia of reliability; and (3) the child either testifies at the proceedings or is
unavailable as a witness. Stafe v. Woods, 154 Wn.2d 613, 623, 114 P.3d 1174 (2005) (plurality
opinion).

Because K.C.-J testified and was available for cross-examination, the issue is whether her

statements were sufficiently reliable.™® In State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d at 173-77, our Supreme

2 Severson also claims that because K.C.-J was not competent, she was “unavailablc,” and
corroboration was necessary to adinit her hearsay statements. Br. of Appellant 28, n.10.
Because K.C.-J was competent to testify, we do not reach the issue of corroboration because
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Court set forth nine factors for the trial court to consider in determining whether child hearsay
statements have sufficient indicia of reliability: (1) whether there was an apparent motive to lie,
(2) the declarant’s general character, (3) whether more than one person heard the statements. (4)
the statements’ spontaneity, {3) the declaration’s timing and the relationship between the
declarant and the witness, (6) whether the statements contained express assertions of past fact,
(7) whether cross-examination could show the declarani’s lack of knowledge, (8) the remoteness
of the possibility of the declarant’s recollection being faulty, and {9) whether the surrounding
circumstances suggested the declarant misrepresented the defendant’s involvement.'* 103
Wn.2d at 173-77. Not every factor need be satistied: it is enough that the factors are
“substantially met.” Hoods, 154 Wn.2d at 624,

Severson argues in a footnote that the trial court should have applied the Rvan factors to
each statement individually, rather than collectively. The plain language of the child hearsay
statute contemplates consideration of the reliability of each individual statement. Staze v.
Stevens, 58 Wn. App. 478, 486-87, 794 P.2d 38 (1990). Therefore, we review the reliability of
the statements to S.C., the video-recorded forensic interview, and the statements to Thomas

individually.

RCW 9A.44.120{2)D) requires corroboration only when the child does not testify. Ioods, 154
Wn.2d at 623, .1,

'3 Factors six and seven no longer apply. See State v. Leavitt, 111 Wn.2d 66, 75, 758 P.2d 982
(1988) {Every statement a child makes conceming sexual abuse will be a stateinent relating a
past facl.); Staie v. Stunge, 53 Wi, App. 638, 647, 769 P.2d 873, review denied, 113 Wn.2d 1007
(1989) (cross-examination could in every case possibly show error in the child hearsay
statement).
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l. K.C-J's Statements to §.C.

Severson argues that K.C.-J.’s statemenis to S.C. were unreliable because they failed (o
meet several Ryan factors. We disagree.

a. No Motive To Lie and General Good Character'

Severson argues that the motive to please her mother undernmines the truthfuiness of
K.C.-].'s statements.

The trial court found that K.C.-J. had no apparent motive to lie. The record supports the
trial court’s finding. K.C.-]. testified that she had fun with Mikey, and that he cooked for Ler
and playved with her. After hearing K.C.-I. testify at the pretrial hearing, the trnal court noted:

{TThere is certainty no apparent motive to fie. She even today spoke of [Severson]

not in a negative term or with negative thoughts necessarily, and 1 think she is

trustworthy in the sense that I didn’t find her as someone who had been coached or

had that kind of indicia of someone who had been propped up to say certam

statements because she was—did not use sophisticated language or clich[és] in

terms of her testimony.
II VRP (April 9. 2014) at 130-31.

Countrary to Severson’s assertion, nothing in the record suggests that S.C."s emotions
gave K.C.-). motive to fabricate her statements to S.C.

Severson also argues that K.C.-]."s young age and variations in her narrative indicates she
was not of good general character.

Any inconsistencies in K.C.-J.”s accounts affect the weight of her evidence. not its

admissibility. Heods, 154 Wn.2d at 621. We rely on the fact-finder, before whom the witness

" The court may consider thesc two factors collectively because they inquire about a declarant’s
apparent motive to lie and general character.
PP g

f
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appeared, to consider “"the manner in which the child recounts the cvents. the child’s memory
regarding other events (including current events), and the child’s demeanor.” as well as the
child’s capacity and intelligence. 154 Wn.2d at 624, 617,

The trial court and the State questioned K.C.-J. at length. providing ample opportunity to
observe her demeanor and her ability to answer questions. The trial court was in the best
position to observe K.C.-1. and to assess her character and whether she had any motive to lie.
The trial court ultimately found that K.C.-J. was generally of good character. As previously
discussed, the court found. and the record reflects, that K.C.-J. was testimonially competent in
that she understood the obligation to speak the truth on the witness stand.

We hold that the evidence supports that K.C.-J. had no apparent motive to He and had
good general character.

b. More Than One Person Heard K.C-J. s Statements

Severson also argues that K.C.-1.7s statements are unreliable because there is conflicting
testimony as to whether Campbell was present during S.C.’s conversation with K.C.-J."*

Even assuming that no one other than 5.C. heard K.C.-1."s statements, the statements
were nonetheless reliable, In State v. Kennealy, 151 Wi, App. 861, 883, 214 P.3d 200 (2009) we
lield that when more than one person hears a similar story of abuse from a child, the hearsay
statement is more reliable. There. while the children’s initial hearsay statements were heard by
only one person, each child told the same accusations about Kennealy to more than one person

over time. 151 Wn. App. at 883. Similarly here, the evidence shows, that K.C.-1."s statements to

I* There were inconsistencies in Carter and Campbell's testimony as to whether or not Campbell
was present when Carter talked to the girls about Severson.

24



No. 46359-8-11

her mother, Thomas, and Arnold, though at different times with different purpose, were
generally consistent,

We hold the evidence supports that the statements were reliable.

c. K.C-J's Statemems Were Spontaneous

Severson argues that because S5.C. sat K.C.-J. down and questioned her about Severson,
that K.C.-J."s statements to her were not spontaneous.

Staterments made in response to guestioning are spontancous so long as the questions are
not [eading or suggestive. Kennealy, 151 Wn. App. at 882, In Kennealy. we addressed the
spontaneity of child hearsay statements almost identical to K.C.-]."s statements to S.C. 151 Wn.
App. at 883.

Here, as in Kemnealy, S.C. merely asked if Severson had ever made K.C.-]. feel
uncomfortable, and K.C.-J. answered. While the setting of the statements was not spontaneous,
the details K.C -J. offered were not suggested and were “spontaneausly” volunteered. See State
v. Madison, 53 Wn. App. 754, 759, 770 P.2d 662 (1989).

We hold the evidence supports that K.C.-J.”s statements were spontaneous as defined by
the case law,

d. The Timing of K.C.-J's Statements and Her Relationship to S.C. Supporr a Reliabilin
Finding

Severson argucs that the relationship between K.C.-J. and S.C.—mother and child—cuts
against the reliability of K.C.-J.7s statements to S.C. Severson further argucs that because S.C.'s
conversation with K.C.-J. happened the same day that S.C. allegedly argued with Severson and

Thomas told S.C. about his concerns, S.C. was predisposed to confinm what she had been told.
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First. courls apply the Ryan factors io assess the reliability of the child’s statements. not
the recollection of the statement-relating witness. State v. McKinnev, 50 Wn. App. 56. 62, 747
P.2d 1113 (1987). Secondly, Severson had ample oppertunity at trial to challenge S.C."s
recollection on cross-examination.

Mavcover, we have held when the witness is in a position of trust with a child. this factor
is likely to enhance the reliability of the child’s statements, not detract from it. Kenuealy, 151
Wn. App. at 884, Here, K.C.-I. made her statements to her mother with whomm she was in a
refationship of trust.

The evidence shows that there was nothing about the timing of K.C.-J."s statements nor
anything about the relationship between K.C.-I. and her mother to suggest an tmproper motive.
This Ryan factor weighed in favor of admitting K.C.-)."s child hearsay statements.

We hold that the record supports the trial court’s findings that K.C.-J."s child hearsay
statements to S.C. substantially satisfied the Ryan factors, particularly that her statements were
reliable. Therefore, had counsel objected, his objection would likely have been overruled. Thus,
Severson’s ineffective assistance of counsel claim on this ground fails.

2. K.C-J s Statements During the Video-Recorded Interview

Severson argues that K.C.-J."s statements in the video-recorded forensic interview failed
to meet several Kvan tactors and therefore were unreliable and would not have heen admitted
had counsel objected. We disagree.

a. No Motive To Lie and General Good Characier

Severson argues that K.C.-]."s motive to please her mother endured and tainted K.C.-]."'s

truthfulness in the forensic interview.
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As discussed above, the trial court found, and the record suppoits, that K.C.-J. had no
apparent motive to lie and was a person of general good character.

b. K.C-J's Statements Here Spontaneous

Severson argues that “the video-recorded mterview was not a spontaneous utterance.”
Br. of Appellant 32.

As previously discussed, statements made in response to questioning are spontaneous so
long as the questions are not leading or suggestive. Kennealy, 151 Wn. App. at 883. Here.
Arnold described in detail, and the trial court saw on video, the method of questioning utilized
during the forensic interview. Armold described the technique as “always to ash very open-ended
questions and then simple follow-up questions to clarify the details.™ 1T VRP (April 9. 2014) at
114,

We hold that the record supports that K.C.-]."s recorded statements were spontaneous as
defined by case law.

c. The Swrrounding Circumstances Do Not Show Misrepresentation

Severson appears to argue that the surrounding circumstances showed misrepresentation,
hut argues only that “the child’s mutually exclusive stories are flat-out alarming.” Br. of
Appellant 33, The trial court found that based on the totality of the circumstances surrounding
the making of K.C.-J."s statements, there 1$ no reason to believe K.C.-J. misrepresented
Severson’s involvement. As we previously discussed. the record supports that while K.C.-1.s
description of events varied, they were generally consistent. We hald that the record supports

that surrounding circumstances do not show misrepresentation.
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Becausc the Ryan factors are substantially satisfied, we hold that had counsel objected to
the admission ol K.C.-J.'s hearsay statements during the forensic miterview, his objection would
likely have been overruled, and therefore Severson’s inelfective assistance of counsel claim on
this ground fails.

3. K.C.-J s Statenients to Thomas

Severson argues that K.C.-J."s statement to Thomas that “Mikey does it.” after he asked
her why she repeatedly hit herself in the crotch, does not describe the kind of act contemplated
by RCW 9A.44.120."° Br. of Appellant 33. We disagree.

RCW 9A.44.010(2) defines sexual contact as “any touching of the sexual or other
mntimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party or a
third party.” Severson relies heavily on Thomas’s mterpretation of the hitting as a “male
masturbatory gesture,” and argues that this does not constitute sexual contact as defined by RCW
9A .44.010(2). Whether Thomas's interpretation ol K.C.-J."s gesture as a male masturbatory
gesture was accurate, or whether her statement meant that Severson made such contact with
K.C.-J., the statement can be reasonably mterpreted as describing an act of sexual contact, as
defined by RCW 9A.44.010(2).

We hold that had counsel objected to the admission of K.C.-J."s statements to Thomas 1t

would not have been sustained, and therefore counsel was not ineffective on this ground.

1% Jnn his final sentence addressing the issue, Severson contends the “'statement was not reliable,”
but offers no argument or analysis to support his claim. Br. of Appeilant 33. Wc do not address
it. See Srate v. Stubbs, 144 Wi App. 644, 652, 184 P.3d 660 (2008), rev'd on other grounds,
170 Wn.2d 117 (2010) (*Passing treatment of an ssue or lack of reasoned argument 1s
msufficient to allow for our meaningful review.™): RAP 10.3.

28
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Counsel’s decisions not to pursuc what would have been futile objections to the
admission of K.C.-J."s three out—oi-court statements did not fall below an objective standard of
reasonableness and were therefore not deficient. We hald that Severson's meffective assistance
of counsel claim on thesc grounds fails.

C. Failure To Object 1o Evidence of an Uncharged Plivsical Assault

Severson argues defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object to the
introduction of K.C.-1."s video-recorded statement that Severson physically assaulted her while
she was nding her bike.

Because this claim relies on facts outside the record on appeal we do not consider it.'”
State v. MeFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335,899 P.2d 1251 (1993).

D. Fuilure To Object 10 Impeachment Evidence.

Severson argues that delense counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing o object
to Arnold’s testimony that J.N.K. ““disclosed witnessing some abuse with [K.C.-1.]. as though
[sic] it was different, to some degree, from what [K.C.-J.] disclosed.” Br. of Appellant 55
(alteration m original} (queting V VRP (April 15, 2014) at 350). We disagree.

Severson contends that Arnold’s statement that J.N.K. told Arneld she had witnessed
some abuse with K.C.-J. constituted impeachment evidence because when J.N.K. testified she

was asked, “Did you ever see anything happen with [K.C.-J.]7" and she responded, “No.” Br. of

17 Severson did not include the video-recorded interview in the record on appeal. The party
presenting an issue for review has the burden of providing an adequate record ta establish such
error. See RAP 9.2(b). We may decline to address a claimed error when faced with a material
omission in the record. State v. Wade, 138 Wn.2d 460, 465, 979 P.2d 830 (1999). There was no
discussion of any physical assault during a bike ride during live witness testimony or m any
closing argument.
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Appellant 55 (quoting IV VRP (April 14, 2014) at 215). Severson argues that had counsel
objected. a limiting instruction would have been given. cautioning the jury to limit its
consideration of the statement to JN.K."s credibility. and there was no strategic or tactical reason
not to object and request such a limiting instruction.

Contrary to Severson’s argument, there are two obvious tactical reasons trial counsel did
not object to Arnold’s statement. First, counsel may have not objected in order to avoid bringing
undue attention to the statement. Our courts have specifically recognized that such a strategy can
be described as a legitimate trial tactic. Stare v. Gludden. 116 Wn. App. 361, 368, 66 P.3d 10953
(2003): sce also Stute v, Kloepper, 179 Wi, App. 343, 356, 317 P.3d 1088, review denied 180
Wn.2d 1017 (2014) (“The decision to not object to or seek a cure for damaging evidence is a
classic tactical decision.™). Second, counsel may have allowed the testimony to show another
example of the inconsistencies i the children’s accounts. Counsel’s defense theory centered on
the inconsistencies of the children’s testimony and arguing that they were not credible. In
closing, counsel specifically brought up Arnold’s statement that I.N.K. told her she had
witnessed K.C.-1."s abuse as an example of an consistent and therefore not credible statemnent.

We hold that not objecting to Amold’s statement was a legitimate trial tactic and
therefore Severson’s ineffective assistance claim on this ground fails.

E. Failure To Qbject 1o Opinion of Guilt Testimony at Trial

Severson also contends that his counsel was meffective for fatling to object to several
instances of allegedly nmproper opinion testimony.

Counsel’s choice of whether to object is a classic example of trial tactics, and ouly in

egregious circumstances will [ailure o object constitute incompetence of counsel justilying
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reversal. Kloepper, 179 Wn, app. at 355-56. As previously noted, to demonstrate ineffective
assistance of counsel based on the failure to object. the defendant must show (1) that the trial
court would have sustained the objection if raised, (2) an absence of legitimate strategic or
tactical reasons for failing to object, and (3} that the result of the trial would have been ditferent.
See Johnston, 143 Wn. App. at 13-20.

It is improper for a witness to express a personal opinion regarding the guilt of the
accused. State v. Kirkman. 159 Wn.2d 918, 937, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). Such mmpermissible
opinion testimony about a defendant’s guilt may constitute reversible error because it violates the
defendant’s constitutional right to a jury trial. which includes an independent determination of
the facts by the jury. See 159 Wn.2d at 935-37. In order to determine whether statements
constitute impernissible opinion testimony, we consider the circumstances of the case,
mcluding: (1) the type of witness involved, (2} the specific nature of the testimony. (3) the nature
of the charges, (4} the type of defense, and (5) the other evidence before the trier of fact.
Demery, 144 Wn.2d at 759, “[T]estimony that is not a direct comment on the defendant’s guilt
or on the veracity of a witness. 1s otherwise helpful to the jury, and is based on inferences from
the evidence is not improper opinion testimony.” City of Seattle v. Heatlev. 70 Wn. App. 373,
578. 854 P.2d 658 (1993)).

1. Campbell's Testimony

Severson argues that his counsei was ineffective for failing to object to Campbell’s
improper opinion of guilt testimony.  As previously discussed, Camphbell’s statements did not

constitute improper opinton of gutlt testimaeny and therefore Severson cannot show that the trial
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court would have sustained the objection had it been raised. Therefore Severson’s ineffective
assistance of counsel claim on this ground fails.

2. Thomas's Testimony

Severson aiso argues that counsei rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object to
Thomas’s improper opinion of guilt testimony.

As previously discussed. the prosecutor’s question. “Because it didn’t make them happy
to talk about being abused?™ and Thomas’s answer, “That’s the way it seemed, yes,” constituted
improper opinion of guilt testimony. V VRP (April 15, 2014} at 481. Had counsel objected. the
trial court itkely would have sustained the objection.

However, to succeed on his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Severson must still
show prejudice. To prove prejudice, Severson must show a reasonabie probability that, but for
counsel’s purportedly deficient conduct, the outcome of the trial would have differed.
Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d at 130. Severson cannot meet his burden.

In light of all the evidence presented at trial, Thomas’s testimony was a relatively minor
picce of evidence. The jury heard direct testimony from both JN.K. and K.C.-J. giving first-
hand accounts of similar incidents of molestation. The jury also saw video of K.C.-J."s forensic
mterview wherein she recounted the abuse. Severson testified in his own defense and explained
some accidental touching occurred over the girls’ vaginal areas, but denied any inappropriate
sexual touching. Ultimately this case turned on the credibility of IN.K., K.C.-]., and Severson.
Given the direct testimony heard by the jury, Thomas’s opinion testimony cannot reasonably be

sawd to have changed the jury’s verdict.

s
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Additionally, the trial court propetly instructed the jury that it was the sole judge of
witness credibility and not bound by witness opmions. Absent evidence that the jury was
unfair]y mnfluenced, we presume thai the jury followed the court’s instructions. Alontgomer,
163 Wn.2d at 536. Severson makes no showing that Thomas’s answer to the prosecutor’s
improper question unfairly influenced the jury verdict.

Severson cannot prove that lie was prejudiced by the prosecution’s elicitation of
Thomas’s opinion of guilt testiinony, and therefore his ineffective assistance claim on this
around fails.

3. “Grooming” Testimony

Severson argues that counsei rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object when
S.C. said that Thomas had told her Severson was “grooming™ the girls, and when Thomas
confirmed that 1s what he told S.C.

As previously discussed, the grooming testimony at trial was well within the trial court’s
ruling on the motion in limine excluding all “grooming” evidence. Severson cannot show that
the trial court would have sustained tiie objection had it been raised, and thus Severson cannot
nrove prejudice. Therefore, Severson’s claim on this ground fails.

4. 5.C.'s Testimony

Severson argues that his counsel was ineffective for fatling to object to S.C."s improper
opimon of guilt testimony when she testified that other people had expressed concern about the
way Scverson talked to the kids, and that it seemed there was more that K.C.-J. was not telling

her when S.C. asked K.C.-]. about Severson,

|
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Both of these statements were minor moments in 5.C.’s testimony. Severson fails to
show that counsel's decision not (o object was not a legitimate and intentional decision not to
emphasize innocucus evidence. Kloepper, 179 Wn. App. at 355. Moreover, given the
abundance of other evidence put before the jury describing Severson’s actions, there is nothing
to suggest that had the jury not heard these inconseguential statements the outcomic of trial would
have differed.

We hold that counsel did not render ineffective assistance by not objecting to S.C.'s
statements.

F. Eliciting Deteciive Eggleston’'s Opinion of Guilt

Severson argues that his counse! rendered ineffective assistance by eliciting Detective
Eggleston’s opinion that Severson was guilty. We disagree.

On cross-examination, Severson's counsel tried to minimize the impact of Deleciive
Eggleston’s testimony that Severson’s story changed over the course of the iterrogation by
highlighting the length and repetitive nature of the questioning, and by suggesting that Detective
Fogleston’s interrogation tactics were results orented. Counsel asked, “Do you think it’s
possible for a person to finally give the answer that they think the person wants to hear to make
the inquiry stop; do you think that ever happens?” VI VRP (April 21, 2014) at 679. Counsei
continued, “And that’s part of the purpose of interrogation, isn’t it. to get to the answer that you
want to hear?” VI VRP (April 21, 2014) at 681, When Detective Eggleston disagreed, counsel
continued to suggest that because Detective Eggleston had already talked to S.C. and had scen

the forensic iterviews of the children that he was focused on getting a confession from

RE
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Severson. Counsel asked, “You thought you had your guy: you wanted to get a confession out of
Mr. Severson. lsn’t that the purpose for the interrogation?” VI VRP (April 21. 2014) at 681,

On appeal, Severson argues this question was a direct elicitation of Detective Egglesion’s
opinion of Severson’s guilt. As is clear from the record, this question was not an improper
elicitation of opinion of guilt. but rather counsel’s ¢clear strategy to undermine the impact of the
lead detective in the case’s testimony about his interrogation.

Because Severson cannot show that counsel’s cross-examination of Detective Eggleston
canstituted anything other than a legitimate trial tactic, he cannot show deficient performance
and we hold that his ineffective assistance of counsel clatm on this ground fails.

G. Failure To fmpeach S.C.

Severson argues counsel rendered inetfective assistance by conceding that S.C.'s
previous convictions for theft and falsification of insurance were inadmissible for impeachment
under ER 609. We disagree.

Under ER 609, evidence that a witness previously committed a crime of dishonesty can
be admissible for tmpeachment purposes. In general, evidence of a prior conviction is
admissible if (1) the crime was punishable by more than one year in prison and the court
determines that its probative value outweighs the prejudice to the party against whom the
evidence is offered. or (2) the crime involved dishonesty or a false statement. ER 609(a).
Crimes of thelt involve dishenesty and are per se admissible for impeachment purposes. Stafe v
Rav, 116 Wn.2d 531, 545, 806 P.2d 1220 (19971}

In pretrial motions the partics discussed a motion to exclude the criminal histories of the

State’s witnesses. It appears 5.C.7s record refllected a thelt crime from Tacoma Municipal in

T
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2008 and a conviction for falsification of insurance. Severson's counsel noted, “1 think at this
point, Your Honor, 1 don’t see any crunes that are admissible under 609. 1’1l do a little research
between now and then.” T VRP (April 8, 2014} at 19. Counsel ultimately did not attemnpt to use
S.C.'s criminal history as impeachment evidence.

Severson cannot demonstrate that counsel’s failure to use S.C.’s past crimes to impeach
her prejudiced him. The exient of counsel’s cross-examination put S.C."'s credibility before the
Jury even without evidence of her past crimes. He repeatedly asked S.C. about her use of
methadone and 1ts effects, including the significant time she spent in her bedroom or sleeping.
mmplying she was an absent parent. Additionally, the record provides no information about the
circumstances of S.C."s prior convictions, and we cannot speculate that its admission would have
substantially affected the jury’s opinion of her credibility.

S.C. s credibility was not central to Severson’s case as he argues on appeal. She was not
an eyewitness to any abuse. Her most impactful testimony was reiterating K.C.-J."s hearsay
statements about Severson’s alleged actions, and these statements were corroborated by K.C.-1.’s
own testimeny and the forensic interview. S.C."s credibility was neither pure nor imperative to
the jury finding Severson guilty in this case, and had counsel admitted evidence of her past theft
conviction the outcome of the case would not have changed.

Because Seversen cannot show prejudice because of counsel’s failure to impeach S.C.
with her past convictions we reject his ineffective assistance claim on this ground.

H. Failure To Object to Prosecutor's mproper Closing 4rgument
Severson argues that he reccived ineffective assistance of counsel because of his defense

counsel's failure to object 1o the prosecutor’s statements during closing argument. Insofar as the
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prosecutor’s statements during lier closing argument were improper, counsel’s failure to object
constitutes deficient performance.

However, Severson’s claim for ineffeciive assistance of counsel can succeed only if he
can show that commsel’s failure to object to the prosecutor’s improper statements prejudiced him.
Severson cannot meet this burden.

Considering the prosecutor’s closing argument in its entirety, her improper emphasis of
Thomas and Campbell’s testimony was not the focus of her arguinent. That “something was off™
about Severson’s interactions with the girls was certainly a theme she utilized. but even the
prosecutor herself recognized that such speculations were insufficient to find Severson guilty
bevond 4 reasonable doubt. Instead, she focused primarily on K.C.-J, and J.N.K.'s testimony and
their disclosure of abuse. As previously discussed, the case turned on the credibility of K.C.-]..
JN.K., and Severson. Considering all the evidence presented at tral and the instructions given
the jury, there is no reasonable probability that had counsel objected the result of the proceeding
would have been different.

Although some of the prosecutor’s statemients during closing argument were unproper,
taking all circumstances into account, counsel’s failure to object does not undermine our
confidence in the outcome of Severson’'s trial. Thus, because Severson fails to establish
prejudice, he fails to establish ineffective assistance of counsel on this ground.

L Cummulative Incffective Assistance of Counsel
Finally, Severson argues that these alleged mstances of ineffective assistance. taken

together. cumulatively deprived him of a fair trial. We disagree.
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Ultimately, the case came down to the credibility of IN.K.. K.C.-I., and Severson. The
jury was properly instructed thal they alone were the judges of witness credibility and that the
State bore the burden of proving every element of the charges beyond a reasonable doubt. Both
K.C.-J. and J.N.K. testified to specific instances of sexual abuse. Additionally, the jury saw the
video-recorded forensic interview of K.C.-J. detailing Severson’s abuse. and heard S.C. testify to
the initial disclosure made by K.C.-J. The deficiencies of counsel’s performance did not change
the fact that the jury heard detailed testimony of abuse from the witnesses and was properly
instructed on its duty in weighing the evidence.

Because Severson cannot show that any possible errors by his trial counsel prejudiced the
result of the proceeding, Severson cannot establish that cumulative ineffective of assistance
deprived him of a fair trial.

VI, CUMULATIVE ERROR

Severson also argues that the overall cumulative effect of the trial court’s errors,
prosecutorial misconduct, and ineffective assistance of counsel denied him his right to a far tral.
We disagree.

The cumulative error doctrine applics where a combination of tnal errors denies the
accused a fair trial even where any one of the errors, taken individually, may not justity reversal.
State v. Greiff, 141 Wn.2d 910, 929, 10 P.3d 390 (2000}. The defendant bears the burden of
proving an accumulation ot error of sufficient magnitude that retrial 1s necessary. Stafe v
Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 98, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009) (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Lord, 123
Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835, 870 P.2d 964). But the doctrine does not apply where the errors

are few and have little or no effect on the outcome of the tnat. State v. Weber, 159 Wn,2d 252,
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279, 149 P.3d 646 (20006). As previously discussed, the jury heard an abundance of evidence and
was property instructed on how to weigh that evidence. None of Severson’s claimed errors by
the trial court, the prosccutor, or his trial counsel undermined his right to a fair trial or the
validity of lis convictions. In light of all the evidence, we reject Severson’s argument that the
cumulative effect of these errors supporis reversal of his conviction. Accordingly, we affirm
Severson’s conviction.

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW

2.06.040. 1t 1s so ordered.

Worswicle, T.

We concur:

A, |

Sutton, 1. £
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STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 46359-8-11

Respondent,
V.
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APPELLANT filed a motion to supplement the record and for reconsideration of the
court’s opinion in this case. Upon consideration, this court grants the appeilant’s motion to
supplement the order. This court stays consideration of appellant’s motion for reconsideration
until the supplemental record 1s reviewed.

Accordingly, APPELLANT, Michael Joe Severson’s counsel is directed to file a
Supplemental Designation of Clerk’s Papers with the trial court requesting Exhibit 1 and provide
this court a copy within 5 days. The trial court is directed to forward to this court the requested
Exhibit 1 within 10 days of the filing of the Supplemental Designation of Clerk’s Papers.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.
DATED this ‘; % day of May, 2016.
PANEL: Jj. Worswick, Johanson, Sutton

FOR THE COURT:
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Appellant.

APPELLANT moves for reconsideration of the Court’s Mareh 29,2016 opinion. Upon
consideration, the Court denies the motion. Accordingly, it is

SO ORDERED.

PANEL: Jj. Worswick, Johanson, Sutton

DATED this Jﬂﬁ/\day of b L

FOR THE COURT:
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